IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE C. L.,)
A Person Coming under)
the Juvenile Court Law) CASE S265910
LOS ANGELES COUNTY)
DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN	()
AND FAMILY SERVICES,) Case No. B305225
Petitioner and) Second Appellate
Respondent,) District, Div. One
)
v.)
) Superior Court No
C. L.,) 17CCJP02800 A&F
Respondent and) (LOS ANGELES
Petitioner.) COUNTY)

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT, LOS ANGELES COUNTY

HONORABLE MARGUERITE DOWNING, JUDGE BRIEF OF PETITIONER C. L. ON THE MERITS.

CHRISTOPHER BLAKE, #53174
4655 Cass Street, #108
San Diego, California 92109
P.O. Box 90218
San Diego, CA 92169
(858) 274-1722
E-Mail: christopherblake@sbcglobal.net

ISSUES PRESENTED.

This case presents a single, but very important issue for review regarding the rights of incarcerated parents, especially parents who are not responsible for the actual events that led a social services agency to intervene into the lives of his/her children, to fully participate in all stages of the dependency proceedings from the very beginning until the time the children are either returned to their parents or are freed for adoption by other families. Specifically, this Court defined the issued to be briefed and argued as follows:

"Is it structural error, and thus reversible *per se*, for a juvenile court to proceed with jurisdiction and disposition hearings without an incarcerated parent's presence and without appointing the parent an attorney?"

It is petitioner's contention that the appropriate resolution of this question is quite simple. Yes, it is structural error to proceed with a jurisdictional and disposition hearings without the presence of a parent who is incarcerated and without appointing that parent an attorney to represent their interests. Because it is structural error, it is reversible error *per se* that also requires reversal of any subsequent orders that may be entered including orders terminating parental rights.

This is particularly true, where, as here, it is clear that the trial court failed to honor, in any meaningful manner, appellant/petitioner's clearly expressed desires to participate in the dependency proceedings involving his children and where, as here, the social services agency, here respondent Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) and its counsel likewise failed to correct the trial court's misapprehension that petitioner did not want to be involved in the proceedings. It has oft been said that there is no "go to prison, lose your child" provision in California law. (In Re Brittany S. (1993) 17 Cal.App.4th 1399, 1402; see also, In Re James R. (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 413, 430; In Re V. F. (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 1234, 1238). The reality of life, however, is that the rights of incarcerated parents are all too often given short shrift in our courts with the ensuing results of avoidable reversals of decisions made by the trial court. (C.f., In Re A. J. (2019) 44 Cal.App.5th 652 and cases cited therein).

California Statutory Law provides strong protective measures for incarcerated parents facing litigation over the custody and care of their children. Penal Code section 2625 gives a parent incarcerated in a California prison/jail an absolute right to be present at all hearings involving the termination of parental rights and to the jurisdiction/disposition hearings in all dependency cases; it also gives them a right to request to be present at all other hearings involving children, including not just dependency hearings but Family Law hearings regarding child care, custody, visitation, paternity and so on. Section 2625 also encourages trial courts to explore the use of electronic media to enable parents who are incarcerated in non-California facilities to participate in such proceedings.

California Statutory Law also provides an assurance that incarcerated (as well as non-incarcerated) parents will be represented by counsel and by competent counsel at that – Welfare and Institutions Code sections 317 and 317.5 for which the normal remedy is a writ of habeas corpus and an entirely new hearing if the errors of counsel are found to be prejudicial. (*C.f.*, *In Re A. R.* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 234 [483 P.3d 881, 276 Cal.Rptr.3d761] (*A. R.*).

It has been assumed that the right to court-appointed counsel and competent counsel is only statutory in California. However, it is also clear that, under certain circumstances, the right to counsel and competent counsel is a matter of due process under the Federal Constitution. (*Lassiter v. Department of Social Services* (1981) 452 U.S. 18, 31[101 S.Ct. 2153, 68L.Ed.2d 640], hereinafter *Lassiter*). However, as will be demonstrated, *Lassiter* probably is no longer good law and that a majority of the United States Supreme Court would likely find that due process requires appointment of counsel for all indigent parents in dependency proceedings, most especially those facing the possibility of termination of parental rights.

STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The issues that are presented in this case involve principles of statutory/constitutional interpretation and are based on undisputed facts. As such they are issues of pure law and are subject to de novo review by this Court with no particular deference being given to the decisions of the trial and lower appellate courts. (Dawson v. East Side Union High School District (1994) 28

Cal.App.4th 998, 1041; *People v. Taylor* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1084, 1091).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

A petition was filed on December 28, 2017, on behalf of the minors Inez, approximately 10 months old, and the newborn Christopher alleging that they fell within the scope of Welfare and Institutions Code section 300. (I CT 1-3). The mother of both children is one Valerie L. but she is not a party to this appeal and will be discussed only as necessary. Petitioner Carlos L. is the presumed father of both children. However, for a time, one Jaime M., was listed as an alleged father for Christopher.

The petition alleged that Valerie had a substance abuse problem involving methamphetamine and other illegal substances that prevented her from caring for the two very young children; Christopher was born with a positive toxicology for methamphetamine. (I CT 4-5). Carlos, who was listed as being incarcerated at the Sierra Conservation Center in Jamestown, was also alleged to have a similar substance abuse problem; he also was a registered narcotics offender and had an extensive criminal history that allegedly showed he was not able to properly care for these children. (I CT 5-6).

¹ There was never any dispute about petitioner being the presumed father of the older child, Inez, as he was listed on the birth certificate. As part of the proceedings in the Court of Appeal, the Court of Appeal found that the trial court erred in failing to immediately find that petitioner was also the presumed father of Christopher. Neither respondent DCFS nor the minor seriously contested this issue in the Court of Appeal and neither filed a petition for review on the issue of paternity in this Court.

Both Valerie and petitioner had children by other partners. It was alleged that Valerie's parental rights had been terminated as to them and that they had been adopted by one of Valerie's aunts, a Sylvia W., thus exposing Valerie to the possibility that she might be denied reunification services pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 361.5, subdivision (b)(10) and (11). (I CT 4). Although not alleged in the petition, it was noted in the jurisdiction/disposition report, that petitioner had children who had been removed from his custody and placed with paternal relatives (I CT 207-208); thus making it possible that he, too, could be denied reunification services. (II CT 371-372).

The detention hearing was held on December 29, 2017. None of the three parents, including petitioner, appeared. (RT 12/19/17 p. 1). However, the court noted petitioner was in state custody and a statewide search was ordered for him. No orders were made regarding paternity of either child and those findings were postponed to a later date. (RT 12/19/17 pp. 2-3, I CT 198).

Petitioner acknowledges that respondent DCFS sent him a letter regarding the pendency of these proceedings. In response, petitioner submitted a letter dated February 21, 2018. A copy of that letter was attached to the jurisdiction/disposition report. (II CT 244, 266-268). In that letter, he clearly expressed a desire to participate in these proceedings, preferably via telephone as a personal appearance might interfere with his ability to participate in a fire camp program. (II CT 266). At no time, did he ever waive his right to be present; he did not indicate what he would do if a telephone call might not be possible but he did indicate telephone

calls were sometimes difficult to arrange. (II CT 265). He also indicated a desire for DNA testing but made it clear that he loved his children regardless of the outcome of the tests. (II CT 265). He also wanted his mother to have visitation, if not custody. (II CT 266).

The combined jurisdiction/disposition hearing for both Inez and Christopher was held on March 9, 2018. (II CT 361-364). The detention report as well as the jurisdiction/disposition report were admitted into evidence. (RT 3/9/18 p. 2). Petitioner was not present nor was he represented by counsel. The court sustained the petition and made the children dependents of the court. Petitioner was denied all reunification services. In making her findings, Judge Downing, the bench officer made the following comments:

"Mr. Lopez is currently incarcerated, and he has not made himself available and not – he's been noticed, but he's made no contact with the Department." (RT 3/9/18 p. 6, lines 6-9, emphasis added).

As noted, this is incorrect, petitioner Carlos L. had responded to the Department and his response was attached to the jurisdiction/disposition report which the trial court stated it had read.

There is no evidence that a formal waiver pursuant to Penal Code section 2625 was filed by or on petitioner's behalf. (RT 3/9/18 pp. 1-3). A copy of the minute orders as to Christopher were mailed to Valerie; no copy was mailed to petitioner despite the fact that he qualified as a presumed parent of Christopher (II CT 364); a copy of the minute orders as to Inez were mailed to him at the Sierra Conservation Center as shown by the request for judicial notices

filed concurrently with the opening brief in the Court of Appeals and which is should now be a part of the record in this court; however, he never received it for whatever reason; quite possibly because he had already been transferred to a fire camp.²

The next significant hearing was on September 6, 2018. (II CT 557-558). At that hearing, the court set a permanency planning hearing for both children and asked the LADL-Hayes firm to act as a "Friend of the Court" and contact petitioner.³ (RT 9/6/18 p. 6). On November 15, 2018, the LADL-Hayes firm, in the person of Ashley Wu, was appointed to represent petitioner with respect to both of his children. (II CT 584, RT 11/15/18 p. 8). The court also found that the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) did not apply to this case. (RT 11/15/18 p. 8).

The permanency planning for both children was set to commence on December 19, 2018.⁴ (II CT 606). Petitioner made his

 $^{^2}$ It also has the wrong CDCR number for petitioner; the notice lists it as "BEU4882" but the correct one is "BE4882." The addition of the "U" may seem trivial but present counsel is very much aware that any mistake in the CDCR number often causes a letter to bounce or otherwise become lost in the system.

³ "LADL" refers to the Los Angeles Dependency Lawyers, a non-profit agency in Los Angeles County that represents most of the parents in dependency proceedings; it is divided into five separate "law firms" to avoid conflicts of interest in the dependency court. The "Hayes" firm is one of those five firms and is sometimes known as "LADL-Two."

⁴ At no time did petitioner's trial counsel ever make an *Ansley* [*Ansley v. Superior Court* (1975) 186 Cal.App.3d 477] motion to correct the problems caused by the earlier failure of the trial court to appoint counsel for appellant or to otherwise adhere to the procedures of Penal Code section 2625. While this discussion was part of the original appeal in the Court of Appeal, the Court felt it was not necessary to reach the issue as

first appearance in this case; he was present only via speaker phone. (RT 12/19/18 p. 12). The hearing began with a request for DNA testing with respect to Christopher, the younger child; the court granted the request and continued the permanency planning hearing with respect to him. There was no dispute about the paternity of Inez – petitioner was declared to be her presumed father. (RT 12/19/18 p. 15). Without any objection or a request for a continuance, the court proceeded to conduct the permanency planning hearing for Inez, the older child. The hearing was perfunctory – the court found Inez to be adoptable and that none of the exceptions for adoption as the preferred permanent plan existed; parental rights were then terminated. (RT 12/19/16 p. 16). The court also gave a perfunctory advisement of appellate rights. (RT 12/19/18 p. 18, lines 10-16). There is no evidence that any appellate proceedings were initiated regarding the termination of petitioner's parental rights as to Inez.⁵

The Court received the DNA results for Christopher on February 13, 2019. (II 608-609). They showed that petitioner was

it found it unnecessary. Nevertheless, it forms an important part of the backdrop of this case and will be discussed as needed. (*See also*, *In Re R. A.* (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 826 [275 Cal.Rptr.3d 877, 889] holding that, when section 388 is used to challenge orders issued in violation of a parent's constitutional due process rights, there is a presumption that the child's best interests are served when the parents' due process rights are preserved and respected.

⁵ The records of the trial court reflect that, as of this date, the adoption of Inez by her foster mother, Sylvia W., has not been finalized or even scheduled although Ms. W. has apparently been approved to adopt both children. (III CT 641)

the biological father of Christopher. On February 26, 2019, the court realized that it was necessary to again notice petitioner of these proceedings and postponed the permanency planning hearing for Christopher; it made no findings as to paternity. (III CT 714).

The permanency planning hearing was ultimately held on March 5, 2020. (III CT 920-922). The matter proceeded solely on the basis of the written reports. (RT 3/5/20 p. 2). Petitioner was present via telephone conference only. (III CT 920). The court found that the minor was adoptable and that none of the exceptions for adoption as the permanent plan were found to exist; parental rights were terminated. (III CT 921, RT 3/5/20 p. 5-6). The minute orders were mailed to petitioner at his place of incarceration. (III CT 922-923). These appellate proceedings followed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CONCEPT OF STRUCTURAL ERROR AS IT APPLIES TO DEPENDENCY LAW.

The thrust of this Court's grant of review lies in whether the concept of structural error can apply to dependency law and, if so, how far does it extend and to what sorts of errors. The concept of structural error or that an error can be so fundamental that it offends all concepts of due process and not be amenable to any sort of harmless error analysis was largely developed in criminal law but it has been applied to areas of civil law, including dependency law. These errors typically involve a denial of certain basic rights whether guaranteed by the Federal/State constitutions or by certain statutory enactments by the California Legislature. However,

petitioner does accept that the concept is more apt to be applied to rights that are guaranteed by one or both constitutions.

For example, in civil cases, structural error has been found in a refusal or failure to allow a party to present its entire case before the trier of fact requiring reversal per se in ordinary civil cases. (In Re Marriage of Carlsson (2008), 163 Cal.App.4th 281, 292-293; Severson and Werson, PC v. Sepehry-Fard (2019) 37 Cal.App.5th 938, 950-951). It is also structural error in civil cases to deny a litigant the right to testify if his/her counsel so wishes – Kelly v. New West Federal Savings (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 659, 677; In Re Waite's Guardianship (1939) 14 Cal.2nd 727, 730; and Caldwell v. Caldwell (1962) 204 Cal.App. 4th 819, 821).

Juvenile dependency cases are different. In most civil cases, the dispute is about the past — who did what and what should be the consequences of a wrongful act, be it a crime, a tort, a breach of contract or whatever. In dependency, the focus is partly on the past — did the parent commit certain acts that require that the child be made a dependent — and partly on the future — what is to become of the child — reunification with the parent, guardianship or adoption. This distinction caused this Court to be cautious in extending the concept of structural error to dependency proceedings. In *In Re James F.* (2008) 41 Cal.4th 901, 916-917, this Court stated that:

"Preliminarily, we observe that juvenile dependency proceedings differ from criminal proceedings in ways that affect the determination of whether an error requires automatic reversal of the resulting judgment. The rights and protections afforded parents in a dependency proceeding are not

the same as those afforded to the accused in a criminal proceeding...In a criminal prosecution, the contested issues normally involve historical facts ...whereas in a dependency proceeding the issues normally involve evaluations of the parents' present willingness and ability to provide appropriate care for the child and the existence and suitability of alternative placements. Finally, the ultimate consideration in a dependency proceeding is the welfare of the child...These significant differences between criminal proceedings and dependency proceedings provide reason to question whether the structural error doctrine that has been established for certain errors in criminal proceedings should be imported wholesale, or unthinkingly, into the quite different context of dependency cases. (Id., at 915-916, citations omitted, emphasis added).

However, this Court, and other courts have recognized that there are situations in which structural error does play a role in dependency proceedings. For example, it is structural error to deny a parent a contested hearing on an issue on which the Department/Agency bears the burden of proof. (*In Re Kelly D.* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 433, 439, fn. 4; *In Re Josiah S.* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 403, 417-418). The court cannot even require an offer of proof. (*In Re James Q.* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 255, 265-266). Another structural error is the failure to provide the parent with a copy of the petition. (*In Re Andrew M.* (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 859, 867, fn. 4). It was structural error for a trial courts to refuse a continuance to parents so they could evaluate a tardy report prepared by social

workers recommending termination of reunification services and/or parental rights. (*Judith P. v. Superior Court* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 535, 548; *Tracy A. v. Superior Court* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 1309, 1318 – neither case was discussed or disapproved by this Court in *James F.*, despite having predated that case, *but see*, *contra In Re A. D.* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 1319, 1328).

If a parent wishes to testify at a hearing on issues on which the Department bears the burden of proof, it is arguably structural error not to produce the parent for such testimony presuming, of course, that the trial court has the power to produce the parent for testimony. (*In Re M. M.* (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 955, 964-965 – incarcerated parent subject to California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation had an absolute right to testify at the jurisdiction hearing and the denial of that right deemed cannot really be subject to harmless error analysis as it is too difficult to determine how "credible" client would have been on the stand).

In its discussion of structural error in *James F.*, this Court discussed the effect of the denial of the right to counsel and to counsel of one's choice noting that, in *Gonzalez-Lopez v. United States* (2006) 548 U. S. 140, 150 [126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409], the United States Supreme Court held that erroneous deprivation of a criminal defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice was a structural defect requiring reversal of the conviction without inquiry into prejudice. This Court explained: "It is impossible to know what different choices the rejected counsel would have made, and then to quantify the impact of those different choices on the outcome of the proceedings. Many counseled decisions, includ-

ing those involving plea bargains and cooperation with the government, do not even concern the conduct of the trial at all. Harmless-error analysis in such a context would be a speculative inquiry into what might have occurred in an alternate universe." (*James F., supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 914). In other words, the presence of the guiding hand of competent counsel is critical in protecting the due process rights of parents in matters in which the state seeks to involuntarily terminate their parental rights and only very rarely, if ever, can it absence ever be considered to be non-prejudicial.

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