S265910

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re CHRISTOPHER L., A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

THE LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CARLOS L..

Defendant and Appellant.

From a Decision by the Court of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division One, Case No. B305225
Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. 17CCJP02800B
On Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County,
Honorable Marguerite D. Downing, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL
RODRIGO A. CASTRO-SILVA
County Counsel
KIM NEMOY
Assistant County Counsel
SARAH VESECKY
Senior Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 205481

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

incarcerated parent's absence. (In re Jesusa V., supra, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 599-622.) This Court agreed that Penal Code section 2625 required both the prisoner and the prisoner's attorney to be present at the jurisdictional hearing, but disagreed that the violation of Penal Code section 2625 deprived the juvenile court of jurisdiction to adjudicate the petition, applied a harmless error analysis, and found the incarcerated biological father was not prejudiced. (Id. at p. 622.)

In *In re Jesusa V.*, this Court explained that the father's right to be present was statutory and that it had "regularly applied a harmless[]error analysis when a defendant has been involuntarily absent from a criminal trial." (*In re Jesusa V.*, supra, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 624-625.) This Court further stated, "Our conclusion is bolstered by the strong countervailing interest, expressed by the Legislature itself, that dependency actions be resolved expeditiously. [Citations.] That goal would be thwarted if the proceeding had to be redone without any showing the new proceeding would have a different outcome." (*Id.* at p. 625.) This Court applied the *Watson* harmless error test and found the father in that case was not prejudiced. (*Ibid.*)

Although the instant case is admittedly distinguishable in that Father was neither present nor represented by counsel during the combined jurisdiction/disposition hearing, *In re Jesusa V.* establishes that errors with respect to Penal Code section 2625 are not structural and should be reviewed under the harmless error standard. (*In re Jesusa V., supra*, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 624-625.) Significantly, both Father's right to be present at

the hearing and his right to counsel were statutory. (§ 317, subd. (b); Pen. Code, § 2625, subd. (d).) And again, as Division One recognized, "[E]ven errors of a constitutional dimension can be subject to a harmless error analysis in dependency proceedings, given the unique nature of such proceedings, unless it is impossible to assess prejudice without engaging in speculation. [Citations.]" (Opinion, p. 1177.) And as Division One explained, the error in the instant case was clearly harmless regardless of whether it is reviewed under the *Watson* standard, or the more stringent *Chapman* standard. (*Id.* at p. 1193.)

The *In re Jesusa V*. decision also recognizes that the strong public policy interest in resolving dependency cases in an expeditious manner would be thwarted if proceedings had to be redone without a showing of prejudice. (*In re Jesusa V., supra, 32* Cal.4th at p. 625.)

As discussed, the undisputed facts in the present case firmly establish that the identified errors with respect to Penal Code section 2625 are amenable to a harmless error analysis, and Father plainly was not prejudiced by them. Deeming the error structural renders prejudice irrelevant, to the detriment of Christopher who is the subject and focus of the proceedings.

Father glosses over the fact that although there was error with respect to Penal Code section 2625 at the jurisdiction/disposition stage of the proceedings, he participated in and was represented by counsel during the subsequent proceedings, including the hearing at which parental rights were terminated. (Opinion, pp. 1181-1182, 1192.) Thus, the case did

not proceed to permanency without Father ever being present or having the opportunity to participate in the proceedings and attempt to establish a defense to the termination of his parental rights.

Significantly, the case at bar is not the first time an error almost identical to the one that occurred in the instant case was found to be harmless. In *In re Marcos G*. (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 369, in which Division Three of the Second Appellate District held that a juvenile court did not abuse its discretion when it denied a father's section 388 petition requesting that the court return the case to the disposition stage, find that father to be a presumed father, release the child to the father, take the section 366.26 hearing off calendar, and vacate the prior notice findings regarding the father. (*Id.* at p. 390.) In that case, the father was also incarcerated at the time of the jurisdiction/disposition hearing and argued the juvenile court erred when proceeded with the jurisdiction and disposition hearing in his absence and without counsel being appointed. (*Id.* at pp. 389-390.)

The *In re Marcos G*. Court held, "We find no abuse of discretion in the trial court's declining to grant [the father's] petition. As discussed below, clearly it would not be in [the child's] best interests to grant [the father's] request and undo most of the case and there was no prejudicial error in the court's proceeding [] with adjudication and disposition without [the father] and appointed counsel being at the hearing." (*In re Marcos G., supra,* 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 390.) The Court referenced that the paternal grandmother was not a placement

option and that the child was bonded to and had been living with his foster parents for 20 months by the time the father appeared in the proceedings and over two years by the time father filed his section 388 petition. (*Ibid.*) The Court also noted that although father was visiting with the child on a weekly basis, the child and father were nothing more than friendly visitors. (*Ibid.*)

The *In re Marcos G*. Court held that the father had not only failed to demonstrate it would be in his child's best interest to send the case back to the disposition stage, but that the father had also not demonstrated prejudice. (In re Marcos G., supra, 182 Cal.App.4th at p. 390.) The Court explained the record did not "show facts that would have caused the trial court to not adjudicate [the child] a dependent child and take custody from [the father and the mother] if [the father] had received required notices and been transported to the [jurisdiction and disposition] hearing. [The father] was incarcerated and could not care for [the child] at that point, [the child's] mother was not able to appropriately care for him because of her substance abuse and domestic violence relationship with the father of her other children, and [the father's] relatives were not permitted to take him into their homes." (Id. at p. 391.) The same is true in the case at bar.

III. The United States Supreme Court's Decision In

Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services (1981) 452 U.S. 18,

Supports Division One's Holding That The Error In

The Instant Case Is Properly Reviewed Under The

Harmless Error Standard.

In Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services, supra, 452 U.S. 18, the United States Supreme Court addressed whether a trial court

denied a mother due process by not appointing counsel for her at a termination of parental rights hearing. (*Id.* at p. 32.) The Supreme Court held that the Constitution did not require the appointment of counsel for indigent parents in every parental rights termination proceeding, but that there might be cases in which the appointment of counsel is necessary to meet due process standards because of the complexity of the case and the competing interests of the parent and the State. (*Id.* at pp. 31-33.)

The *Lassiter* Court concluded the trial court did not err in not appointing counsel for the mother in that case because, among other things, the petition to terminate parental rights did not include any allegations upon which criminal charges could be based, no expert witnesses testified, the case did not present any "troublesome points of law," and the presence of counsel for the mother could not have made a determinative difference. (*Id.* at pp. 32-33.)

Thus, in determining whether due process requires the appointment of counsel in termination of parental rights cases, the United States Supreme Court focused on whether not providing counsel was prejudicial. (Lassiter v. Dep't of Social Services, supra, 452 U.S. at pp. 32-33.) Therefore, even assuming, arguendo, that a parent has a constitutional right to counsel in dependency proceedings, including at hearings other than termination of parental rights hearings, any error in not appointing counsel early in the proceedings is properly reviewed

under the harmless error standard, if amendable to such an analysis.

In the instant case, Father *was* represented by counsel at the hearings following the combined jurisdiction/disposition hearing, including the hearing at which parental rights were terminated. (Opinion, at pp. 1181-1182, 1192.) And again, Father has never articulated how having had counsel at the jurisdiction/disposition hearing would have altered the trajectory of the proceedings and provided him a defense to the termination of his parental rights at the permanency hearing, in light of the period of Father's incarceration and his inability to develop any relationship, much less a significant and beneficial relationship, with his young child due to his incarceration. (Opinion, pp. 1192-1193; § 366.26, subd. (c)(1)(B)(i)-(vi).)

IV. The Cases Father Cites To In Support Of His Position Are Distinguishable And/Or Do Not Support His Position That The Error In The Instant Case Was Structural.

The cases father cites to in support of his position in the instant case are distinguishable and/or do not support his position that the error in the matter at bar was structural, and therefore, reversible per se.

A. Father's Reliance On Cases Involving A Lack Of Notice Of The Proceedings Is Misplaced.

Father cites to dependency cases in which the complete lack of notice has been deemed structural error. (BM 22-23.) However, those cases are distinguishable because Father *did* receive notice in the instant case. (Opinion, p. 1187.) Furthermore, those cases predate *In re James F.*, in which this

Court recognized the significant differences between criminal and dependency proceedings and questioned whether structural error should ever be applied dependency proceedings. (*In re James F.*, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 915-916.)

And although the issue in *In re James F*. was error in the process used for appointing a GAL, this Court specifically stated in concluding that such error was a form of trial error amenable to harmless error analysis, "If the outcome of a proceeding has not been affected, denial of a right to notice and a hearing may be deemed harmless and reversal is not required." (In re James F., supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 918, citation omitted; see also In re AI.J. (2019) 44 Cal.App.5th 652, 673¹⁵ [a reviewing court applied harmless error analysis to a case in which an incarcerated father was not provided adequate notice of the jurisdiction and disposition hearing]; In re Daniel F. (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 701, 716 and *In re R.A.* (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 826, 839 [alleged failure to conduct adequate due diligence searches for a missing parent and to provide notice to the parent of the jurisdiction/disposition and subsequent hearings in motions filed pursuant to section 388 reviewed under harmless error analysis in determining whether the parent was entitled to an evidentiary hearing].)

Furthermore, as Division One explained, the instant case is distinguishable from cases involving a complete failure to provide notice to a parent not only because Father does not dispute that he received notice, but because "[t]he record also reflects [Father]

¹⁵ This case is also referred to as *In re A.J.*

received notice of all hearings, and participated, with counsel, in the hearings resulting in the termination of parental rights from which he now appeals. Cases involving a complete lack of notice present unique concerns, none of which is present here." (Opinion, p. 1187, citations omitted.)

B. Father Is Incorrect When He Asserts That Other Errors In the Dependency Context Have Been Deemed Structural.

Father also appears to assert that other errors in dependency proceedings, including denying a parent a contested hearing on an issue on which the child protective services agency bears the burden of proof, have been deemed structural error. (BM 20.) He is wrong. As a preliminary matter, the cases on which father relies – In re Kelly D. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 433, In re Josiah S. (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 403, and In re James Q. (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 255 – predate *In re James F.*, supra, 42 Cal.4th 901. Furthermore, the cases do not address the applicable standard of review in assessing such errors, much less hold they are structural and/or would have compelled the reversal of an order terminating parental rights at a later stage in the proceedings. The cases Father cites to simply hold that the parents were entitled to the contested hearings they requested. (In re Kelly D., supra, 82 Cal.App.4th at pp. 439-440, In re Josiah S., supra, 102 Cal.App.4th at pp. 417-418; and In re James Q., supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 268.)

In fact, *In re Kelly D.*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th 433 and *In re James Q.*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 255 support the application of the harmless error test. The reviewing courts in those cases cited

to Section 13 of Article VI of the California Constitution and found there had been a "miscarriage of justice." (*In re Kelly D.*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at p. 440; *In re James Q.*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 268.) The reviewing court in *In re Kelly D.*, even appeared to qualify its finding of a "miscarriage of justice" by adding "under the circumstances here." (*In re Kelly D.*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at p. 440.)

In In re Celine R., supra, 31 Cal.4th at pp. 59-60, this Court referenced cases that included general references to a "miscarriage of justice," said that the cases had "not stated the exact harmless error test[,]" cited to Section 13 of Article VI of the California Constitution, and stated, "The California Constitution prohibits a court from setting aside a judgment unless the error has resulted in a 'miscarriage of justice.' We have interpreted that language as permitting reversal only if the reviewing court finds it reasonably probable the result would have been more favorable to the appealing party but for the error. We believe it appropriate to apply the same test in dependency matters." (Internal citations omitted.) Thus, Father is mistaken when he asserts the errors in *In re Kelly D., supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th 433, *In* re Josiah S., supra, 102 Cal.App.4th 403, and In re James Q., supra, 81 Cal.App.4th 255 were deemed structural. (BM 20.) Furthermore, Father fails to recognize that the Court of Appeal in In re Andrea L. (1998) 64 Cal. App. 4th 1377, 1387, explicitly applied a harmless error analysis in reviewing a juvenile court's error in failing to conduct a contested hearing.

In re Andrew M. (2020) 46 Cal.App.5th 859, is also not helpful to Father's position. (BM 20, 35.) Father relies on a footnote stating it would have been structural error if the parent in that case had never received a copy of the section 300 petition. (In re Andrew M., supra, 46 Cal.App.5th at p. 867, fn.4.; BM 20, 35; Opinion, p. 1187.) However, because lack of notice was not at issue in the case, the Court of Appeal's footnote was simply dicta. (In re Andrew M., supra, 46 Cal.App.5th at p. 867, fn.4; Opinion, p. 1187.) Significantly, the issue in In re Andrew M. is similar to the case at bar – the failure to appoint counsel for an incarcerated parent during the jurisdiction/disposition stage of the proceedings. (Id. at p. 864.) In that case, Division Three of the Second Appellate District did not hold that the error was structural, but rather, applied a harmless error analysis and found that the error was not harmless. (In re Andrew M., supra, 46 Cal.App.5th at p. 867; Opinion, p. 1187.) Thus, the case supports Division One's holding that such error is subject to a harmless error analysis. (Opinion, pp. 1185-1187.)

The fact that such error is subject to and amendable to a harmless error analysis is further supported by *In re AI.J.*, *supra*, 44 Cal.App.5th 652, in which Division Five of the Second Appellate District held that the failure to give an incarcerated father adequate notice of the jurisdiction and disposition hearing was prejudicial error. The father in that case *was* released from custody during the underlying proceedings and made efforts to establish a relationship with his children and participate in services. (*Id.* at p. 673.) The *In re AI.J.* Court found the errors

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